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The committee convened at 9.03 am. 
 

WATER FURTHER AMENDMENT BILL 2019 
 

Central Land Council 
 
Mr CHAIR: Welcome everyone. On behalf of the committee, I welcome everyone to this public hearing into 
the Water Further Amendment Bill 2019. I welcome to the table to give evidence to the committee 
Mr Peter Donohoe, Manager Land Management Section, Central Land Council and Ms Su 
Sze Ting? … 
 
Ms TING: Yes, that is right. That is fine. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thanks, Su Sze, the Senior Lawyer, Central Land Council. Thank you for coming before 
the committee today. We appreciate you taking the time to speak to the committee and look forward to 
hearing from you today. This is a formal proceeding of the committee and the protection of parliamentary 
privilege and the obligation not to mislead the committee applies. This is a public hearing which is being 
webcast through the Assembly’s website. A transcript will be made for use of the committee and may be put 
on the committee’s website. 
 
If, at any time, Peter and Su Sze, during the hearing, you are concerned that what you will say should not be 
made public, you may ask that the committee go into a closed session and take your evidence in private. 
 
Could you please each state your name and capacity in which you are appearing here today, and then 
committee is happy for one of you to make an opening statement. 
 
Mr DONOHOE: Peter Donohoe is my name and I manage the Land Management Section at the Central 
Land Council. 
 
Ms TING: My name is Su Sze Ting and I am a Senior Lawyer for the Central Land Council 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thanks Su Sze. Would Peter or Su Sze like to make an opening statement? 
 
Ms TING: I will be making an opening statement on behalf of the Central Land Council. Water rights are 
important to our constituents and our council, especially in the desert which is where we are where water is 
scarce. The two main issues our constituents and our council members talk about are water access and 
water security. The Central Land Council supports the intent of the Water Further Amendment Bill to provide 
access to water for economic development by Aboriginal people, 
 
However, we just want to ensure that this bill and any amendments to the Water Act recognise the interest 
of all our constituents, the traditional owners, the affected Aboriginal community members and native title 
holders for both exclusive and non-exclusive determinations. 
 
One of the main things that we just want to submit on is the fact that the Native Title Act recognises the rights 
of native title holders in relation to the grant of licences for the management of water, both surface and 
subterranean water. 
 
This is set out in our submission. We consider that a water extraction licence issued by the Northern Territory 
Government is a licence relating to the management of water, and it is a future act for the purposes of section 
24HA(2) of the Native Title Act. 
 
Under section 24HA of the Native Title Act native title holders have the right to be notified and they have the 
right to be given an opportunity to comment before a water extraction licence is intended to be issued. 
 
To the best of the Central Land Council’s knowledge we have not received any future act notices under 
section 24HA of the Native Title Act. 
 
More importantly, this section recognises that the issue of such licences are compensable acts, acts to which 
native title holders are entitled to compensation for any loss, any diminution or impairment of their native title 
rights and interest as a result of the grant of these licences. 
 
Native title holders in our region have native title rights and interests in relation to lands and waters. An 
example in the determination is a right to access, to take and use water resources on or in the land, and 
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there is no distinguishing under section 24HA(2) of the Native Title Act between the rights of native title 
holders with exclusive determinations and those with non-exclusive determinations. 
 
Accordingly, we urge the committee to ensure that this bill takes into account the interests of all our 
constituents, the traditional owners, the affected community members but more importantly, all the native title 
holders, especially the native title holders of non-exclusive determinations, which form a majority of the 
determinations in Central Australia. Thank you. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thank you, Su Sze. I will open it up to our committee for any questions. I have a couple of 
questions which I might go through first with you. 
 
In the submission you comment that the definition of eligible Aboriginal people is too vague. We have had a 
response from the department which replied to those concerns that you raised. Can you comment on the 
extent to which you think the department’s response addresses your concerns in that definition of eligible 
Aboriginal people? 
 
Ms TING: That is two separate issues. One issue is about who are going to be the beneficiaries for this 
Aboriginal water reserve and it is for the economic development for eligible Aboriginal people. What we really 
want is we want to make sure that the people who live in that region are people who get the benefit from the 
Aboriginal water reserve. 
 
There is a consent requirement, we recognise that under section 71, and there are going to be regulations 
drafted in relation to that consent. The reality is, in a water allocation district which we are dealing with in 
Western Davenport, there are people who may be there, who are affected Aboriginal community members 
but who are not necessarily the titleholders or Traditional Owners, who might want to benefit from the 
Aboriginal water reserve. 
 
I think the point we are trying raise is that Aboriginal land is not just held for the benefit of Traditional Owners. 
A land trust holds Aboriginal land for the benefit of Aboriginal people who are entitled by Aboriginal tradition 
to the use and occupation of the land concerned. 
 
We want to make sure that people who live in the region, who are entitled by tradition to be on the land, be 
able to exercise traditional rights and use occupation of land. They are recognised in the eligible Aboriginal 
people definition. 
 
Mr CHAIR: I have another question. In your submission you raised concerns of a failure to recognise the 
interest of Native Title Holders, under non-exclusive native title determinations, could potentially result in 
compensation, liability from the Northern Territory government. Could you describe or tell us how that might 
occur? 
 
Ms TING: In our submissions and opening statement, I think one of the chief concerns we have is the fact 
that the Bill basically only limits eligible land, to land on which there are exclusive native title determinations. 
All non-exclusive native title holders, their rights and interests are not recognised. 
 
To give you an example, we can work in a practical way, in the Western Davenport region—that is one of my 
regions where there is a water allocation plan, it is a water-controlled district—there is all this water, water 
extraction licenses are issued without taking into account the interests of non-exclusive native title holders. 
These water extraction licenses are issued and as a result there is a reduction in the water reserve. It results 
in native title holders not being able to exercise or enjoy their rights under native title determinations. 
 
The fact that the Northern Territory government has not recognised their interests, has not consulted with 
them, has not taken into account their interests in the issue of these licences and as a result of that it has 
impacted on the enjoyment of their rights. We believe it is an act that results in compensation liability under 
the Native Title Act.  
 
What we are saying is: you should take into account their interests, let them be involved in any of the decision-
making, let their land be recognised as part of the eligible land and that their land will be part of the Aboriginal 
water reserve. Take into account their interests, before issuing any water extraction licenses. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thank you Su Sze. I will open it up to committee members for questions.  
 
That has answered a few of our questions, Peter and Su Sze. We have no further questions. Would you like 
to add anything, before we finish? 
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Mr DONOHOE: No, the rest is covered in the submission really. 
 
Ms TING: No. I think you would talk about the cap next? 
 
Mr DONOHOE: Yes. 
 
Ms TING: Our concern is more the fact that there is a water policy in place that—and I think the department 
has come back to us with a position about the cap of 30%. That was the first time we received an explanation 
from the department about why the cap is in place. 
 
Our concern is to ensure that there is something enshrined in the legislation. We want to make sure that a 
cap, or any form that recognises the amount is set aside for the Aboriginal water reserve is enshrined in the 
legislation. That is a concern we have that the cap is just in a policy document and is not in the act itself. 
 
Mr CHAIR: All right. We will take that on board. Thank you from our committee and we will be in touch if we 
have any further questions on the bill. Thank you for your time today. 

 
_________________________ 

 
The committee suspended. 

_______________________ 
 

 
Northern Land Council 

 
Mr CHAIR: On behalf of the committee, I welcome everyone to this public hearing into the Water Further 
Amendment Bill 2019. I will introduce my members. I have Kate Worden, Member for Sanderson, Jeff Collins, 
Member for Fong Lim, and Lia Finocchiaro on the phone, the Member for Spillett joining us today. 
 
We welcome to the table to give evidence to the committee Mr Greg McDonald, Manager, Minerals and 
Energy, Northern Land Council and Tess Cole-Adams, Lawyer for Northern Land Council. 
 
Thank you for coming before the committee today. We appreciate you taking the time to speak to the 
committee and look forward to hearing from both of you today. 
 
This is a formal proceeding of the committee and the protection of parliamentary privilege and the obligation 
not to mislead the committee applies. As this is a public hearing it is being webcast through the Assembly’s 
website. A transcript will be made for use of the committee and may be put on the committee’s website. 
 
If, at any time during the hearing, you are concerned that what you will say should not be made public, you 
may ask that the committee go into a closed session and take your evidence in private. 
 
Could you please each state your name and the capacity in which you are appearing here today for the 
purpose of Hansard. Then I am happy for one of you—Greg or Tess—to give an opening statement, thank 
you. 
 
Mr McDONALD: My name is Greg McDonald. I am the Manager of the Minerals and Energy Branch of the 
Northern Land Council. 
 
Ms COLE-ADAMS: I am Tess Cole-Adams. Lawyer at the Northern Land Council. 
 
Mr McDONALD: We have prepared an opening statement and I will be making that on behalf of the Northern 
Land Council. Thank you, Chair Sievers and members of the committee for inviting the Northern Land Council 
to speak today. 
 
This bill to enshrine Aboriginal water rights in law is something of a landmark piece of legislation. We 
congratulate the government for commitment to its continued development. This bill follows decades of 
campaigning by land councils, together with traditional owners, for greater equity in water distribution. 
 
Within Indigenous cultures, water is widely regarded as a primary force of nature, well beyond its physical 
properties and importance as a resource and is considered a very part of the process of creation. Water 
sources are often sacred sites or parts of dreaming tracks and therefore, underpins the traditional Aboriginal 
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concepts of identity and social order. It is just that Aboriginal people be afforded an opportunity to access 
and utilise water reserves for their own economic benefit. 
 
Historically in the NT, water extraction licenses have been issued on a first-come first-serve basis. In some 
areas, all available water has been allocated to non-Aboriginal users without any consideration being given 
to the aspirations of traditional owners of the area. 
 
This bill will ensure a portion of water, in a water allocation plan area, is set aside for the use of eligible 
Aboriginal people, giving them the opportunity to utilise that water for economic development. This bill is 
about justice, equity and fairness. However, the NLC is concerned about the fairness of the proposed bill in 
that it only provides equity for some. 
 
In development of the government’s policy on Aboriginal water reserves, the Northern Land Council and the 
Central Land Council, in our submissions, argued that eligibility should extend to all Aboriginal people with 
owner-occupier rights and specifically should include those holding native title under the Native Title Act. 
 
The definition of eligible rights holders in this bill includes the native title holders with exclusive possession, 
but excludes those with non-exclusive native title determinations. In practise, this excludes the vast majority 
of native title holders in the Top End. 
 
To be clear, a non-exclusive determination does not mean the native title holders have any less of a 
connection to the country. It simply means the land had been allocated to non-Aboriginal interests, such as 
pastoral leases, before the rights of Aboriginal people were recognised. 
 
Native title holders with non-exclusive rights may live and work on the land and could use it to develop 
income-generating projects. The NLC submits these holders of non-exclusive native title should be afforded 
the same rights of access to waters as those with an exclusive native title determination. 
 
I am not sure if you have a copy of a map we provided to the committee? You do, excellent. I will refer to 
that. The map provided to the committee shows the extent of exclusive and non-exclusive determined Native 
Title claims in the NLC’s region. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: My map is cut off, sorry. Could you quickly take us through the various colours? We only got 
it this morning. 
 
Mr McDONALD: We have colour coded the exclusive determinations in dark green. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Dark green is exclusive? 
 
Mr McDONALD: Yes, to the east of the Borroloola area.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: What about the light green, is that National Park? 
 
Mr McDONALD: The light green is not on the legend. It is just what was taken from the database but it is not 
relevant to this. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: The beige? 
 
Mr McDONALD: The beige is the non-exclusive native title. The point we were trying to make, with providing 
this map, is to show the extent of non-exclusive native title. That covers the vast majority of the Northern land 
Council’s region of land that is not Aboriginal land under the Aboriginal Land Rights Act. 
 
Exclusive native title determined areas are very small and almost negligible in comparison to the non-
exclusive native title areas. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: The black line, is that the NLC? 
 
Mr McDONALD: Yes, that is the NLC and CLC boundary. 
 
Those native title areas, whether exclusive or non-exclusive have all been determined. A determination of 
native title is a formal recognition of native title holders’ proprietary interests in land under Australian law. 
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The particular rights and interest recognised in a determination, turn on the facts of each case, but they 
generally recognise native title holders’ rights to access, control and use land, waters and other resources. 
 
Where a claim is determined over a pastoral lease, it is usually recognised, subject to the rights of the pastoral 
holder. It is this coexistence of pastoral rights and native title rights that makes the native title holders rights 
non-exclusive. 
 
Put another way, the native title rights for exclusive and non-exclusive determinations are each as strong 
and sensible as the other; except that on pastoral leases, the pastoralist’s interests prevail. 
 
The map we provided shows that very few native title claims in the NT are determined as exclusive by a fact 
of history. In that regard, the effect of this bill to native title holders will be almost negligible. It will exclude 
the vast majority of native title holders from opportunities for economic development under Aboriginal water 
reserves. There is no relevant basis for this distinction between exclusive and non-exclusive native title. 
 
The department has provided, in their letter to the committee, that the reason for the distinction is because 
the identity of native title holders is uncertain until a determination is made. With respect, the department 
appears to have misunderstood the difference between non-exclusive and exclusive determinations of native 
title. In both cases, there has been a determination. It is just that the rights recognised are either subject to 
pastoralists’ interests or they are not.  
 
The department’s comments appear to be directed at the difference between a registered native title claim 
which has not yet been determined and a determined native title claim, whether exclusive or non-exclusive. 
We note that no other territory or Commonwealth legislation makes a distinction between non-exclusive and 
exclusive native title determinations in this way. 
 
We had prepared some comments on section 24HA, but I feel that was sufficiently covered by the CLC’s 
submission this morning, so … 
 
Mrs WORDEN: What does that cover? We do not have the legislation in front of us. 
 
Mr McDONALD: That is 24HA, the act that provides native title holders with rights with regard to the 
regulation and management of water. Examples of such acts under section 24HA include the creation of 
water allocation plans or the grant of water extractive licences. 
 
We note that over 600 water extraction licences are listed on the Northern Territory government’s website. 
As the CLC has touched on, to the best of the NLC’s knowledge, we also could not identify any records of 
having received valid notices under section 24HA of the Native Title Act in regard to the grant of water 
allocation plans or the grant of any water extraction licences in the Northern Land Council’s region. 
 
We can only take from this that the department’s current practices do not have due regard to section 24HA, 
Native Title Act for 25 … 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Twenty-four … 
 
Mr McDONALD: Twenty-four, that is the typo— 24HA. This practice is entirely at odds with other Australian 
jurisdictions. For example, in Western Australia where the petroleum and mining industries play a particularly 
important role in economic and political life, it has been long-standing practice for pending water extraction 
licences in native title-affected areas to be notified as future acts. 
 
The allocation of Aboriginal water reserves provides an important opportunity to set out the framework for 
recognising native title rights and interest to water in Northern Territory law in a way that is consistent with 
24HA, Native Title Act. 
 
A failure to provide a framework that properly accounts for native title property rights and interests is a missed 
opportunity for the government to limit its compensation liability and risks the government diminishing or 
extinguishing native title rights without regard to the requirements of the Native Title Act. 
 
This legislation has the potential to offer enormous benefit for Aboriginal people. If the intent of the bill is to 
promote economic development, we submit these opportunities should be extended to all rights holders. To 
do otherwise may contribute towards increased inequality between those Aboriginal groups with rights to 
access the Aboriginal water reserves and those without such rights.  
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We also submit that a failure to do so may not accord with human rights principles. The bill was accompanied 
by a statement of compatibility with human rights that provided that the bill is compatible with human rights 
as it does not raise any human rights issues. The UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People provides 
that, under Article 25:  
 

Indigenous peoples have the right to maintain and strengthen their distinctive spiritual relationship with 
their traditionally owned or otherwise occupied and used lands, territories, waters and coastal seas 
and other resources and to uphold their responsibilities to future generations in this regard. 

 
Article 32 of the declaration continues: 
 

1. Indigenous peoples have the right to determine and develop priorities and strategies for the 
development or use of their lands or territories and other resources.  

 
2. States shall consult and cooperate in good faith with the indigenous peoples concerned through 

their own representative institutions in order to obtain their free and informed consent prior to the 
approval of any project affecting their lands or territories and other resources, particularly in 
connection with the development, utilization or exploitation of mineral, water or other resources. 
 

3. States shall provide effective mechanisms for just and fair redress for any such activities, and 24 
appropriate measures shall be taken to mitigate adverse environmental, economic, social, 
cultural or spiritual impact. 

 
In its current drafting, the Water Further Amendment Bill 2019 does not accord with these articles in relation 
to most native title holders as demonstrated by the map provided. 
 
The recognition of native title under Commonwealth law was the culmination of a decade’s long struggle for 
social justice and property rights. With this in mind, we respectfully request that this committee to uphold 
these hard fought rights by adopting the NLC’s recommendations for amendment in the passing of this bill. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thank you, Greg. I had a few questions but you have covered some of them in your opening 
statement. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: I have a question. Do you have any thoughts about why the non-exclusive native title holders 
might have been excluded, or do you think that is an oversight? 
 
Mr McDONALD: It appears to have been an oversight, however, I would be speculating. It is probably best 
to address that question to the department. It appears to me from their response to the questions put by the 
committee that it is a misunderstanding of the rights between exclusive and non-exclusive. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: While we have you, you were here in the room for the discussion with the CLC. Do you have 
any commentary about the cap? 
 
Mr McDONALD: My only comment there would be to support the submission from the CLC in that we would 
also like to see that enshrined in legislation rather than sitting in the policy space. We feel that enshrining 
those percentages amounts and allocation either in the act itself or the regulations would further strengthen 
the rights of traditional owners. They would not so easily be changed in future. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Mr Collins, do you have a couple of questions? 
 
Mr COLLINS: Mine is also related a bit to the CLC submission. They spoke about occupier rights which 
seemed to be slightly different from both non-exclusive and exclusive native title holder rights. You only spoke 
about exclusive and non-exclusive. Is there a difference? I took from that submission there was difference 
between those two categories and then this occupier rights. 
 
Mr McDONALD: My understanding is that both exclusive and non-exclusive determinations of native title 
provide for those same rights. The rights are not distinguished. 
 
Mr COLLINS. No. I get that, but this third category of occupiers who do not have … 
 
Ms COLE-ADAMS: Because of the displacement of Aboriginal people throughout the Top End sometimes 
people’s traditional lands or the area that they have been able to prove through a native title or land claim 
that they are traditionally connected to is not necessarily where they live. So I think what the CLC’s 
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submission—I speak on their behalf—but it is an issue in our region as well where you might get a community 
filled with people whose traditional lands are elsewhere but they are living and they have been born in a 
community where water security is an issue. 
 
Mr COLLINS: One more thing. If it were to change or to include the non-exclusive title holders, how do you 
think that would affect the pastoral lease holders? 
 
Ms COLE-ADAMS: It is my understanding under the Water Act that pastoralists are given priority along with 
domestic users or water. The water reserves only provide rights to people who come after domestic and 
pastoral users. We are only talking about what is left over. 
 
Mr COLLINS: You do not see any effect on pastoral lease holders? 
 
Mr McDONALD: No, not the way the water bill is currently constructed. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thank you Mr Collins. I have a question. How would you envisage the consent process to access 
water from an Aboriginal water reserve being managed if eligibility is broadened to include Aboriginal people 
and communities who have neither land rights nor exclusive native title? How would you see that managed? 
 
Mr McDONALD: Obviously, there is a distinction in the requirements between the Aboriginal Land Rights 
(Northern Territory) Act consent provisions and native title right to negotiate provisions or rights to be notified 
and comment, as with 24A(j). 
 
In practise however, the Northern Land Council’s consultation process is quite similar in the way we seek to 
obtain informed consent. Whether it is on Native Title or land trust land and whether that is exclusive or non-
exclusive, would not make much of a difference for us in the way we consult and go about notifying people 
and seeking their views on the matter. However, we would have to have regard to the legislation in the way 
it was processed and dealt with administratively. 
 
Ms COLE-ADAMS: I might add that both under the Native Title Act and the Aboriginal Land Rights Act, 
decision-making process are couched by traditional decision-making processes and traditional law and 
customs. Even though they are very different tenure systems under different legislation, both provide for 
traditional decision-making processes. That is why the NLC is able to undertake its consultations in a similar 
way, across both types of tenure. 
 
Mr McDONALD: If I could add, we do not envisage any difficulty in the consultation and consent process. 
We undertake similar type of exercises in relation to minerals and energy matters or section 19 agreements 
across a whole range of matters. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thank you. Any other questions from the committee? 
 
Mr McDONALD: If I may Chair, when I said I did not envisage any issues, I should highlight that we would 
need to adequately resource, if we are talking about additional work and looking at the number of licences 
that are issued. The only issue we would have to address is the issue of resourcing and funding and getting 
people in positions to be able to deal with that. 
 
Mr CHAIR: To do the administration stuff. Great.  
 
On behalf of the committee, we thank you for coming in today. We will be in contact, if we have any further 
questions. Thank you for appearing before the committee today. 

_________________________ 
 

The committee suspended. 
_______________________ 

 
 
 

Northern Territory Farmers Association Inc. 
 

 
Mr CHAIR: Welcome, Paul. On behalf of the committee, we welcome everyone to this public hearing into the 
Water Further Amendment Bill 2019. I introduce our committee members. We have Kate Worden, the 
Member for Sanderson, Mr Jeff Collins, the Member for Fong Lim and Mrs Lia Finocchiaro, the Member for 
Spillett on the phone.  
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Paul, we welcome you to the committee today to give evidence to the committee. Obviously, your name is 
Paul Burke, Chief Executive Officer of the Northern Territory Farmers Association. Thank you for coming 
before the committee. We appreciate you taking the time to speak to the committee and we look forward to 
hearing from you. 
 
This is a formal proceeding of the committee and the protection of parliamentary privilege and the obligation 
not to mislead the committee applies. This is a public hearing which is being webcast through the Assembly’s 
website. A transcript will be made for use of the committee and may be put on the committee’s website. 
 
If, at any time during the hearing, you are concerned that what you will say should not be made public, you 
may ask that the committee go into a closed session and take your evidence in private. 
 
Could you please state your name and the capacity in which you are appearing today for Hansard purposes. 
Then we will be happy for you to make an opening statement about your submission. 
 
Mr BURKE: Good morning. My name is Paul Burke. I am the Chief Executive Officer of the Northern Territory 
Farmers Association. I will make a very brief introduction.  
 
The Northern Territory Farmers Association has been in existence for almost a decade. We currently 
represent about $250m worth of plant-based industries in the Northern Territory. We have a vision to increase 
that to $600m over the next eight years on the back of some of the cotton development that, potentially, will 
happen throughout the Douglas Daly and Katherine regions. We have peanuts, pumpkins and other emerging 
crops also going into the ground. It is a pretty exciting time for us moving forward. 
 
I appear today here to give in-principle support to the Water Further Amendment Bill 2019, with a couple of 
provisions that I would like noted. 
 
As I said, we support the development of Aboriginal water reserves for economic development and increased 
participation by Indigenous people in the economy within the agricultural sector.  
 
One of the fundamental issues of developing and growing our industry is access to land and water, of which 
Indigenous people hold a vast swathe of suitable land and significant amounts of water, if this bill is to be 
passed. We see there is an opportunity for partnership with Indigenous people to be able to create an 
economy on Indigenous land.  
 
We need to get some of those frameworks right to be able to achieve this and to do that in a timely fashion. 
I will talk to that in a moment. 
 
The basis of our brief submission was in support, but we need to make some comments about water policy 
in general. It is difficult to assess individual pieces of water legislation when they are in their singular 
environment. What I mean by that is there is a heap of other components that will play into this on water 
trading—how does that interact with the strategic Indigenous reserves and without the ability to assess those 
side by side. It makes it difficult to be able to comment on one specific piece of legislation. 
 
NT Farmers supports the desire to reform the water act, but it would be beneficial if that was done as a 
complete package of changes so we can see the whole lot and comment on the whole lot at one time. Whilst 
we support this piece of legislation, if something contrary was to be in the water trading act, then it would be 
difficult for us to know that now before that actually comes in front of us. That is a proviso.  
 
It is impossible for us to see any implications to Indigenous water trading at this current juncture in time 
because we are just not privy to that information. 
 
One of the key areas we think needs to be addressed in order to realise the economic potential on Indigenous 
land utilising Indigenous water is one of transparency. What we mean by transparency is an accurate list of 
the authorised persons who can speak for the water that is allocated to them. In a lot of cases, we have 
significant experience in seeing that we have Indigenous people wanting to develop, but there are a lot of 
road blocks and bureaucracy in that process. So, if we can have an accurate list of authorised people who 
speak on behalf of that water allocation then that will allow us to take investors directly to those Indigenous 
people to start those discussions. 
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We also agree there is a role for land councils in this process but that comes after the initial discussions. We 
would like to see transparency and a public list of those authorised people. We would like to see that 
published on the DENR website so it is clear, it is visible and it is transparent, similar to all other water users. 
 
This will give a better opportunity to create an environment where leasing and trading of the water can occur. 
There is absolutely no benefit to Indigenous people or our industry if we are actually not trading and using 
this water in some capacity. That could be an Indigenous business creating their own Indigenous business, 
it could be an Indigenous business leasing water to someone else to use or it could be a joint venture. There 
are a myriad of ways that this could go forward but unless we get the leasing and trading component right 
and unless we get that transparency right then that may fail to materialise and we will have a net result of 
less water in the system for agricultural purposes. We want to avoid this happening at every possibility. 
 
NT Farmers does not support any net loss of water for agricultural purposes. What I mean by that is, in the 
consumptive pool there are a range of different users, including town supplies—town supplies may have an 
allocation or 100 bits of water or 100 megalitres of water but currently may only be using 30. There is strategic 
Indigenous reserves or Aboriginal reserves—maybe another 100 of which none of it is being used, so we 
want to be able to work out how we actually maximise the amount of water within the consumptive pool for 
productive purposes. 
 
Some of that water that supplies towns may be able to be traded in the short-term whilst it is not required for 
a town water supply. The strategic Indigenous reserves, we need to put a mechanism in place that Indigenous 
people actually understand the value of that water and how they trade that water. There needs to be 
significant amount of extension and education activity that goes along side of that, so that Indigenous people 
actually capitalise on the asset they are sitting on. 
 
We would like to see some processes around how we can expand the consumptive pool across the Territory. 
We have some examples around some of the draft water plans, Ti Tree in specific, where we have three 
irrigators in that area that would like to substantially expand their business, but the availability of water is 
difficult to quantify and difficult to access to. 
 
We would like to see a process that is timely. When someone is going in to invest that the transfer of water 
from the Indigenous reserves can be done in a timely manner. What I mean by a timely manner is we have 
examples of producers that put in an application for water licences back in 2015 and are still waiting for 
resolution of this.  
 
We do not want to see an environment that this water takes so long to process that developers go elsewhere 
or opportunities go elsewhere. We need to put a set of frameworks in that actually allow for that water to be 
traded in a timely manner, somewhere around 60 to 90 days would be normal. In Queensland water trading 
can occur between water licensees in around seven days. It is possible. We just need to get those frameworks 
right and we need to work with the departments, DENR, to be able to achieve that. 
 
We need a framework that allows for overland water flow capture, dams, and we need that to be developed 
as a matter of priority. We have limited water in our aquifer systems. NT Farmers does not support dams on 
our iconic rivers but we do support off stream harvesting of water where that is possible. There needs to be 
a framework developed as soon as possible that will allow us to get more water in to the system for 
development. 
 
We conservatively think that the cotton industry could be worth $300m to the Territory economy within eight 
years. We have other potential crops that also could contribute significantly to the economy. 
 
They are the main points I would like to get across today, but I do want to note that we do support the actual 
bill we are talking about today and we support the opportunity for Indigenous people to have more 
involvement in the economy. 
 
Mr CHAIR: I will open it up to the committee for any questions. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: You talked about a package of water legislation, do you know off the top of your head what 
it is, how many pieces of legislation you are talking about? 
 
Mr BURKE: There have been individual water plans going up, we have had Uluru, Katherine and Tindal. 
There are more of those to come. There is water trading, this is… 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Is that legislation? I am not aware of it. 
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Mr BURKE: I would have to take that on notice. 
 
Mr WORDEN: Is that a piece of legislation, is it a policy? 
 
Mr BURKE: Yes. We would also like to see the frameworks around the development of overland water 
captures. We cannot see any of that, we talk in isolation. 
 
Mr WORDEN: A lot of that looks like it is policy work rather than legislation? 
 
Mr BURKE: Quite possibly. 
 
Mr CHAIR: I have a question. You heard the NLC’s recommendation that non-exclusive native title holders 
be eligible people under the bill. Do you have a view on this? 
 
Mr BURKE: I would have to take advice, I am happy to provide a written–it is something I have a handle on 
now. 
 
Mr CHAIR: I had a few other questions but in your opening statement you have covered those questions. 
Well done. Paul, do you have anything else to add before we close off? 
 
Mr BURKE: No, good luck. 
 
Mr CHAIR: We have captured a lot. On behalf of the committee, thank you for coming in today Paul. We will 
be in touch if we have any further questions and we will follow up on that one. 
 
 

_________________________ 
 

The committee suspended. 
_______________________ 

 
 

 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources 

 
Mr CHAIR: Christine, thank you for coming before the committee. We appreciate you taking the time to speak 
to the committee and we look forward to hearing from you today. 
 
Christine, this is a formal proceeding of the committee and the protection of parliamentary privilege and the 
obligation not to mislead the committee applies. This is a public hearing which is being webcast through the 
Assembly’s website. A transcript will be made for use of the committee and may be put on the committee’s 
website. 
 
If, at any time during the hearing, you are concerned that what you will say should not be made public, you 
may ask that the committee go into a closed session and take your evidence in private. 
 
For the record and Hansard, could you please state your name and the capacity in which you are appearing 
today. Then we welcome you to make an opening statement, Christine. 
 
Ms LONG: Christine Long, Executive Director Water Resources, Department of Environment and Natural 
Resources. 
 
I do not have an opening statement as such. I already provided evidence in the public briefing that was held 
previously and those statements are still relevant. 
 
I read the submissions that were provided and listened to the evidence that was presented this morning. I 
thank all of the people—those present and those who provided written comments who are not available to 
appear this morning for the submissions they made. 
 
Some of those submissions relate to matters that sit outside the current bill. There were quite a few comments 
made in relation to the onshore shale gas industry and unconventional methods of extraction. As I said, I 
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have read all those submissions and we will take some of those comments into consideration in other reforms 
relating to the Water Act. 
 
As you would be aware, there was a Water Regulatory Reform directions paper issued to the community in 
October last year and submissions closed at the end of March. 
 
Mrs FINOCCHIARO: Sorry to interrupt, I am having trouble hearing you Christine. 
 
Ms LONG: I will restate that for the Member for Spillett. A Water Regulatory Reform Directions Paper was 
released by the minister last year and that was on public exhibition for five-and-a-half months. None of these 
comments are wasted. In all the submissions we received, we are taking note of the comments that are made 
and we appreciate those comments being made.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: Does include the policies that NT Farmers just indicated before? That tranche that he termed 
a ‘package’, will it be captured in that? 
 
Ms LONG: The trade policy was mentioned as a specific policy, and that is the general trading policy that 
applies across the Territory. That was placed on public exhibition, which closed on 13 September.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: As a policy? 
 
Ms LONG: As a policy. As an NT Government proposed policy. It was put on the Have Your Say website 
with an explanatory paper and an application form so that people could practically see how trading would 
work.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: So the submission from NT Farmers will be taken as part of that? 
 
Ms LONG: That is correct. In fact, we are talking—I am speaking tomorrow with Mr Burke about the trading 
policy. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: And the other package? I think I noted them down. 
 
Ms LONG: Mr Burke also mentioned the surface water harvesting policy. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Is it the overland water? 
 
Ms LONG: I do not think he used the correct term that we use. We refer to it as surface water harvesting. 
That involves taking water out of streams or rivers during peak flows, after the initial flood event occurs, when 
the water is receding from that flood event. It looks at what policy parameters should apply to the taking of 
that water.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: He noted water plans.  
 
Ms LONG: That policy—I will just finish that point. That has not been released for public comment at this 
stage but there has been a broad range of stakeholder consultation. We have been developing it for 18 
months now; that is why Mr Burke is aware of it. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: It is intended that it will go out for consultation?  
 
Ms LONG: Correct. When it is properly formulated. It is a very complex piece of science. It has been a long 
process in trying to develop that policy to finalisation.  
 
Water allocation plans are statutory documents which are declared in the Gazette. The minister makes the 
declaration. There are four current water allocation plans. We are also close to finalising the water allocation 
plan for the Oolloo Dolostone Aquifer, which is from Florina Road up through the Douglas Daly area; and the 
Ti Tree water allocation plan. Both of those plans were publicly exhibited for six weeks. It has been several 
months since the Ti Tree one closed and the Oolloo one closed, I think, on 20 September. We are close to 
finalising those two water allocation plans.  
 
Mrs WORDEN: Thank you, I realise it is a little out of the scope for today’s act. I appreciate you giving us 
that information.  
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Mr CHAIR: The committee would like some clarification regarding exclusive and non-exclusive native title 
right. You heard today, around the comments we have had. Why are non-exclusive rights treated differently 
to exclusive rights under the bill? 
 
Ms LONG: I will answer very simply: the bill and my approved drafting instructions are to capture the policy 
in to the water legislation. The policy is very clear in that eligible rights holders will be one of three categories:  
 
• Aboriginal land, scheduled under the Land Rights Act 

 
• Aboriginal land, Northern Territory enhanced freehold 

 
• exclusive possession, native title determination areas. 
 
Obviously, the second category, which is Northern Territory enhanced freehold, is problematic because no 
such definition exists. What we have attempted to do in the bill is capture the closest fit.  
 
Mr CHAIR: Okay, great. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: On the back of that, what do you think the consequences would be—there were comments 
earlier by the CLC, that not including non-exclusive could result in a compensation claim. What would be, in 
your estimation, the impact if the bill actually include non-exclusive native title holders? 
 
Ms LONG: For me it is a question of practical implementation. It is not just about legally implementing the 
policy it is also how we practically implement the policy. The Water Act—and I am a fairly simple person as I 
said. The Water Act confers rights on owners and occupiers to take water and that includes surface water 
that is adjacent to the land—it might be on the land if it is a river flowing through the middle—and also applies 
to ground water, underlying the land.  
 
If you do not hold one of the statutory rights to take water, then you need a licence. The way we administer 
water resource management is, firstly, through a water control district. Water control districts are declared 
over areas where there is high competition for water. In the Territory they tend to follow the spine of the Stuart 
Highway. We have a couple of others, in Gove and one in the Great Artesian Basin. That is a resource that 
needs careful management. 
 
Then beneficial uses of water are declared for water control districts. They both relate to the ways water is 
used and to quality objectives. There are two sections of the act that deal with beneficial uses. Water has to 
be allocated in a way that does not prejudice the beneficial uses.  
 
For us the practical difficulty would be where you have non-exclusive native title determinations, where you 
have other people that may have rights to land, a tenure such as a pastoral lease—I think a pastoral lease 
was used in many of the examples—the act provides for owners and occupiers. The difficulty for us is when 
you are allocating water to a resource the tenures are effectively a spatial  area of land which equates to the 
underlying water if it is a ground water resource—most of our water allocation plans are ground water 
resource plans—or they relate to surface water that is discharged from that ground water resource. 
Essentially, they are focused on that ground water resource.  
 
If you have more than one layer of right to that water it becomes a complex question of allocation for us. I 
see it ostensibly as a practical consideration  
 
Mr COLLINS: If there is an inconsistency with the Native Title Act—and there is, as we were told this 
morning—and likely entitlement for compensation for these people, must have been taken into consideration. 
The question of the Member for Sanderson was what will be the cost?  
 
Ms LONG: I could not give an estimate on cost … or—as Minister Lawler said in her letter to the committee, 
the NT Government has a different point of view to the Land Councils on that point. 
 
Mr COLLINS: No legal advice was received on the effect of 24HA(2)? 
 
Ms LONG: If there was, would you want me to comment on it in this session? 
 
Mrs WORDEN: We can go into a closed session. There is no issue with that. 
 
Ms LONG: I am happy to go into closed session.  
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Mr CHAIR: We will ask everyone to leave. 

___________________________ 
 

The committee moved to closed session. 
___________________________ 

 
The committee resumed open session. 

___________________________ 
 
Mrs WORDEN: You sat through the submissions and I just wanted to hear your view on the cap. 
 
Ms LONG: Thank you, Member for Sanderson. There were also discussions that I held with the Northern 
Land Council. They raised it with me when we were talking to them about the policy and what was in the bill.  
 
The cap is in the policy, as you know. It is that:  
 

… where eligible land is greater than 30% of the water allocation plan area … 
 
That is all of that land that has access to water. 
 

… the percentage of the consumptive pool as a proportion of land relates to the proportion in the 
consumptive pool will be capped at 30%. 

 
The Northern Land Council was of a mind that this should be in the legislation. I do not share that view. 
I think it is something that belongs in policy rather than legislation. If it was to be in legislation it would 
belong in the water regulations, rather than the Water Act. I think there is already a considerable number 
of provisions of the Water Act that really should be in the water regulations, to tidy it up. That is a job 
for another day.  
 
Mr CHAIR: They said the water regulations would be fine. 
 
Ms LONG: Yes. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: If circumstances change and it is only in policy, that policy can be changed at a department 
level, whereas in times of severe drought, perhaps … 
 
Ms LONG: Well, the policy is government-approved policy, so it is more difficult to change the policy than it 
is to change regulations for us, practically. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Okay. 
 
Ms LONG: There are two opposing things. On the one hand, I heard that the land councils wanted the policy 
to be revisited for a number of things, as well as the cap. On the other hand, I heard them say that they 
wanted the cap to be in water legislation. Those statements are slightly at odds with each other. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: So, the intent, to be clear, is to have it in the regs for you or in the policy? 
 
Ms LONG: My preference would be that the intent is in the policy framework, which is an expression of the 
NT government’s policy position. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Okay. Thank you. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Christine, I have one more question. The department’s response to the committee’s question 3(a) 
implies that once a non-exclusive native title rights determination is made it will become eligible land and be 
captured in the next review of a water allocation plan. In reference to our question 3(a) and your response, 
how would this occur, given that the definition of ‘eligible land’ in section 4B(1)(b) is limited to exclusive native 
title determinations? 
 
Ms LONG: Thank you for your question. I will use an example, if I may? 
 
Mr CHAIR: Yes, great. 
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Ms LONG: One of the examples that I have discussed in developing the bill is Banka Banka. Banka Banka 
is currently subject to—I believe it has a non-exclusive native title determination. The pastoral lease is owned 
by Aboriginal people as well. 
 
If we were to have a water allocation plan over all or part of Banka Banka, and that plan was gazetted 
tomorrow, Banka Banka would not be included. A water allocation plan can only exist for 10 years and has 
to be reviewed at five years. If, during that five-year period, a determination of exclusive native title was made 
for Banka Banka Station, then when the water allocation plan was reviewed—and I will refer to the Western 
Davenport water allocation plan in the schedule at the back which lists the eligible land—Banka Banka would 
be added.  
 
The proportions of the consumptive pool—keeping in mind that the consumptive pool could also change at 
a plan review—would change as well. There would be a lot of digits rolling over and this table of eligible rights 
holders—the percentage of eligible land in the particular zone—because it is done by management zone—
in this case it is ground waters, so it is a ground water management zone—and the percentage of the 
Aboriginal water reserve for each of those landholdings would also change. 
 
The five-year reviews of water allocation plans give the opportunity for changes in land title to be picked up. 
 
Mrs FINOCCHIARO: Does that review process support ongoing economic development? I know the Ti Tree 
plan received some criticism for not supporting that level of growth and development. Is it intended that at 
the five-year mark allocation be reviewed? 
 
Ms LONG: There are two things at play here, Member for Spillett. There is the water allocation and planning 
framework, which is the domain of the minister and there is the licensing and regulatory framework which is 
the domain of the controller of water resources. 
 
The water allocation plan allocates water to beneficial uses—both quality and quantity beneficial uses. That 
might say, for example, that this proportion of water is assigned to a group of beneficial uses that includes 
agriculture. That would be a volume of water. 
 
Then the controller of water resources would issue licences from that volume of water—we would refer to 
those as the consumptive beneficial uses—which are the uses that take water out of the system in a sense, 
they are consumed even though the water is still in the environment and moving through the system. 
 
In a plan like Ti Tree—this is an example of where over time, as our science has improved—the total 
estimated sustainable yield of the resource and therefore the figures in the plan have changed. People that 
hold existing licences in a water allocation plan area—their licences do not change. Licences are generally 
issued for a 10-year period. The only way that a licence changes is if we ask the licence holder to at renewal, 
for example, they give back part of their water because they do not need it. Or we had cases during the 
Katherine renewals where people completely gave up their licences because they did not need them. 
Keeping in mind, of course, that people still have the owner and occupier rights so they can still access water. 
They are just not licensed to use it beyond those rights. 
 
In Ti Tree there is quite a high proportion of unused water. In fact, overall there is likely between 30% and 
40% of the total licensed allocations that is actually being used. 
 
The way that water can move—the department does not see the draft Ti Tree water allocation plan as 
preventing economic development. We see the fact that people are not using their licensed entitlements as 
preventing economic development. The way that water can move out of those licences is as I mentioned 
earlier but also through trading. 
 
A water allocation plan also sets trading guidelines and those trading guidelines are specific to the water 
allocation plan area and they apply to the extent that they are not inconsistent with a generic overarching 
trading policy, which at the moment we do not have because, as I said, that was put on public exhibition and 
we are still going through the process of finalising that policy. 
 
In terms of promoting economic development there is a number of different things that are at play. There is 
a whole range of legislative, licensing and policy levers that are operating to ensure that there is economic 
growth. 
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Mrs FINOCCHIARO: Is it a ‘use it or lose it’ methodology though? People might not be using their full water 
allocation because they have not yet developed the remaining component of their development, whatever it 
might be. But is it use or lose? 
 
Ms LONG: When a person applies for a water extraction licence that application is made on the basis of a 
development plan. That development plan may be a staged development. They may say we are going to 
clear 10 hectares and plant this, then we are going clear 50 hectares and plant that. 
 
The water extraction licence may be staged to match up with those proposals or in the majority of cases may 
not be. As we are improving our licensing regime we are moving to more staged approaches to licensing. 
A person’s water extraction licence will say something to the effect that if you are not using your full licensed 
entitlements or if your development plans change you need to tell us so we can change your licensed 
entitlements. 
 
You can work out the number of people that do that. It is zero. 
 
That forces the regulator, who is the controller of water resources, into asking them why they are not using 
their full licensed entitlements. That is loosely referred to as ‘use it or lose it’. It is actually part of a whole 
framework which is the management of unused water, and there is an established government policy around 
that that not only refers to who will be targeted—to use that word—in terms of being asked to explain why 
they are not using their full licensed entitlements and it is the very, very—the people that are really not using 
their licensed entitlements—that are asked why. 
 
If someone has purchased a property in the last three years, they are not included in the tranche of people 
that are asked. 
 
I think in terms of the parameters that have been applied, it is a fair way of approaching it, also keeping in 
mind that people are required to report monthly on their water use. We are tracking water use on a regular 
basis against each licence. 
 
It is reasonable that someone who is using a very small proportion of their water—when they said two, three, 
five years ago, that they would be using x amount—would be asked why. Particularly when there are other 
people lined up to use that water. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: I am guessing, Christine, if they have a valid reason, being only months away from using it 
or they had a project that fell through and are working on a new one, then those would be considered 
favourable and there would not be that big ask for a change? 
 
Ms LONG: That is correct and that was borne out in the recent exercise where letters were written to 
licensees in the Oolloo, and Katherine Tindall Limestone Aquifer water allocation plan areas. 
 
The majority of people had a reason why they were not using their full licensed entitlements. Let’s face it, it 
is subject to the vagaries, in many cases, of agricultural markets. What someone was planning on using, 
when they first applied for their water extraction licence and what they are using now or what they are 
intending to use that water for—if their neighbour has just made good return on an alternative crop—farmers 
are great at looking over the fence and copying what is profitable—it is a very difficult way to make money. 
Yes, absolutely those things are taken into account. 
 
Mrs WORDEN: On the water allocation plans only standing for 10 years and being reviewed every five, the 
NT Farmers indicated that there would be opportunities for partnership with Indigenous land holders across 
joint ventures leasing and owned businesses. Does that mean for Indigenous land, they could only do any 
joint ventures or leasing with any certainty for 10 years. 
 
Ms LONG: That is a policy question for government. In terms of… 
 
Mrs WORDEN: Will that be the outcome of the legislation? 
 
Ms LONG: The legislation provides for longer term licenses. In certain situations, for example, if there was 
to be a major staged development, there are powers in the act for the minister, not the controller, to allow for 
a longer water extraction licence than 10 years. 
 
Mrs FINOCCHIARO: I wanted to ask about the water trading. What does the government base it on, do they 
look at South Australia? Has this been developed? 
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Ms LONG: The overriding objective is what suits the Territory, and the objective is to make water available 
in the economy, to free up water. In the Northern Territory water extraction licenses are tied to land. 
 
That is not the case in the other mainland jurisdictions, except for Western Australia. The NT and Western 
Australia are not compliant with that part of the National Water Initiative. The department’s view would 
probably be that that has worked in our favour. What that stopped is speculative trading in water. 
 
Our trading policy reflects the NT situation, where the objective is to move water around and to also move 
that around relatively easier compared to having to apply for a brand new water licence to facilitate that 
overarching objective of making water available. 
 
You would be aware of the Water Miscellaneous Amendments Bill? 
 
Mr CHAIR: Yes. 
 
Ms LONG: You would recall that some of the  provisions in that were about—where there are existing licence 
holders—enabling those license holders to move water without the requirement to comply with the Part 6A 
provisions of the act—which are the advertising, notification provisions that add time to that assessment 
process. 
 
To answer your question, Member for Spillett, we have created a trading policy that suits our particular 
environment, but I guess picks up the best bits of interstate trading principles. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Great. All right. I do not have any other questions. Mr Collins? 
 
Mr COLLINS: No. 
 
Mrs FINOCCHIARO: No. 
 
Mr CHAIR: All right. On behalf of the panel, we thank you, Christine, for coming in. There are a couple of 
things we will certainly follow up. If we have any other questions we will come back to the department. So, 
thank you for today. 
 
Ms LONG: Thank you for your time and for the opportunity to give evidence. 
 
Mr CHAIR: Thanks, Christine. Thanks, everyone. 

_______________________ 
 

The committee suspended. 
_______________________ 
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